









































































































































Early Nineteenth-Century Houses

Houses in Stokes County which can be identified as surviving
from the first decades of the nineteenth century--ca. 1800-ca.
1840-~are not numerous, but for the most part, like their
counterparts from the late eighteenth century, they are
handsomely detailed. Houses dating from the early years of this
period reflect a transitional Georgian/Federal stylistic
influence, while those built near the end of the period display a
transitional Federal/Greek Revival influence. The quality of
these houses suggests the relative affluence and cultural
awareness of their owners.

Associated primarily with Solomon Petree, the Petree House
(SK 273) may actually have been built in the late eighteenth
century by his father, John Henry Petree (1755-1804), Standing
on a hill overlooking the bottom lands of Town Fork and Neatman
creeks, the Petree House displays a traditional, two-story,
gable—~roofed form with gable-end brick chimneys and a
hall-and-parlor plan. Notable interior features provide the best
clues to the age of the house: mantels with paneled friezes and
molded shelves, a wide—-board center partition with beaded-edged
vertical boards, enclosed stairs to both the second floor and
attic, originally-exposed ceiling joists with molded edges, broad
four-panel doors, and batten doors with molded battens,
beaded-edged vertical boards, and wrought iron hardware. The
batten door of the first floor partition exhibits one the most
unusual period features in the county: rare back-to-back wrought
iron strap hinges with one strap running along the door in
typical fashion but with the mirror-image strap running along the
partition wall, The leather hinges which once joined the iron
straps have worn away.

Until it was dismantled and moved to Tobaccoville in Forsyth
County in 1986, the Frost~-Pepper House (SK 322) was one of the
most architecturally significant structures in Stokes County.
Although it was in deteriorated condition, the early nineteenth-
century house boasted refined and consistently-applied detailing
in the transitional Georgian/Federal style. It was an excellent
early example in the county of log construction being used for a
substantial, sophisticated, permanent house. The Frost-Pepper
House was a two-story dwelling with beaded weatherboard siding, a
fieldstone foundation, a steep gable roof with a boxed and molded
cornice, and large gable-end stone chimneys. The southeast
chimney was particularly spectacular because of its huge battered
base, The raised six~-panel «doors were handsomely grained. The
interior followed a hall-~and-parlor plan and featured plastered
walls, green and blue-painted trim including a molded chair rail
and baseboard in all the rooms and two-part door and window
surrounds. Three fireplaces with broad, segmental-arched fire
boxes remained in the house, although the transitional
Georgian/Federal-style mantels had been removed. One of the most
elegant features of the interior was the plastered underside of
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the enclosed stair which spiraled upward between floors. The
Frost—Pepper House stood in a picturesque setting overlooking
Neatman Creek. Ezekial Frost {1772-1835), who operated one of
the early iron forges in the county on Neatman Creek, is believed
to have built the house. _

One of the most intriguing representatives of the period is
the Ralls House (SK 170). It demonstrates that even small log
dwellings were at times built with a great deal of refinement.
The Ralls House is a one-story dwelling with a hall-and-parlor
plan and a loft. The most extraordinary feature of the house is
the unexpected Flemish bond brick chimney with paved shoulders,
unique in Stokes County. Although the house has been remodeled,
numerous significant interior features remain evident in the
corner stair and loft areas. Among these are vertical board
sheathing with beaded edges, exposed ceiling joists with beaded
edges, tightly laid logs, and mortise-and-tenoned rafters, collar
beams, and gable-end framing. Particularly interesting is the
loft window, which is unglazed and has only a batten shutter held
in place by wrought iron strap hinges.

The James Rierson, Sr., House (SK 642) appears to have been
built during the second quarter of the nineteenth century and
enlarged and remodeled during the mid nineteenth century. Though
deteriorated, it is one of Stokes County's finest architectural
treasures. Located high on a ridge overlooking Flat sShoals Creek
with a scenic view of the hills to the south, the Rierson House
is one of the most sophisticated and least altered of the
dwellings which remain from the pre Civil War period. With all
its refinement of detail, the Rierson House is relatively modest
in size, with a one-story hall-and-parlor plan, two rear shed
rooms, and a two-room loft. The main body of the house is of log
construction, while the shed rooms are of brick-nogged,
mortise-and-tenon frame construction. The exterior is
characterized by a fieldstone foundation, beaded siding (now
mostly replaced with plain weatherboarding), large gable~end
chimneys, and a steep gable roof with a slight double pitch which
enables it to shelter the rear shed rooms and the full facade
porch. One of the most striking parts of the house is the front
porch. Among its noteworthy features are the flush-sheathed
facade wall, the smoke-painted ceiling (a popular nineteenth
century decorative painting treatment in this part of the state),
and the heavy turned posts of transitional Federal/Greek Revival
style influence which are sand-painted to suggest the appearance
of stone. Surviving posts of this type are unique in Stokes
County and rare elsewhere. Sections of the rounded handrail and
evidence of the balustrade remain. On the interior, the two main
rooms have paneled wainscots, plastered walls, and flush-boarded
ceilings. Embedded in the plaster of the log partition wall is a
wooden coat rack. Doors are of the two-panel variety, some
exuberantly grained, and both mantels are large post-and-lintel
ones with austere Greek Revival moldings. An enclosed corner
stair in the west room leads to the loft, The loft rooms are
sheathed with wide flush boards, and in the west room the walls
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are spattered-painted and the ceiling is smoked. The batten door
of the center partition is made of beaded-edged boards and
features slender wrought iron strap hinges which span nearly the
entire width of the door. The shed rooms across the rear of the
Rierson House are an addition probably dating from the mid
nineteenth century. Each room originally had an exterior end
chimney, but these have been removed. The shed rooms are treated
with flush-boarded wainscots, plastered walls, and flush-boarded
ceilings and central partition wall, The exceptional feature of
these rooms is their vernacular decorative painting, most
prominently displayed in the east room., Here the ceiling is
smoked, the wainscot is painted in imitation of stone with broad
spattered strokes of white on grey, and the partition wall above
the wainscot has a startling treatment of bold, upward-directed
spattered strokes in a rich emerald green, perhaps an allusion to
Virginia greenstone, This important house was built by James
Rierson, Sr. (1798-1888), a large landowner and tobacco
manufacturer who purchased the property in 1823. It remained in
his family ownership until 1914.

In the northeastern section of Stokes County, the Newton and
Pink Martin houses exemplify the latter part of the early
nineteenth-century building activity in the county. The houses
are handsome two-story dwellings with three-bay facades and gable
roofs with a brick chimney at each gable end. The two appear to
have been built during the second quarter of the century and both
display similar stylistic details of the transitional
Federal/Greek Revival period. The Newton Martin House (SK 701)
has simple but refined exterior moldings, and the
hall-and-parlor-plan interior features plastered walls and
ceilings, cornerblock door surrounds, paneled wainscots, and
enclosed stairs leading to the second floor and attic.

Vernacular stylistic expressions include three-panel and
eight-panel doors, a post-and-lintel mantel with a heavily molded
and oddly blocked frieze, and, on the second floor, a pegged
clothes rack embedded in the plaster along one wall.

Nearby, the Pink Martin House (SK 702) has refined and
consistently-applied Greek Revival exterior cornice, door, and
window moldings. The interior, arranged in a hall-and-parlor
plan with rear shed and ell rooms, features plastered walls
(including the attie), a corner stair, two-panel, six-panel, and
eight-panel doors with transitional Federal/Greek Revival-style
molded surrounds, post-and-lintel mantels, and wainscoting.
Although they have been over-painted on the first £loor,
handsomely marbled baseboards and stair risers remain on the
second floor.

Mid Nineteenth-Century Greek Revival Houses
The mid nineteenth century, prior to the Civil War, was a
period of prosperity in Stokes County, as it was throughout North

Carolina and the nation as a whole, The period witnessed the
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erection of some of the county's finest houses which utilized the
popular Greek Revival style to express in a tangible way the
success and prominence of the owners. Both substantial
plantation houses and smaller, yet stylistically distinctive,
dwellings were erected.

One of the most impressive of these houses is Pine Hall,
also known as the Anderson—-Hanes House. Completed in 1859 as the
seat of Major Leonard W. Anderson's 879-acre plantation, the
house is listed in the National Register of Historic Places, The
original part of this stately house is a large two-story brick
structure with a three-bay facade, an entrance portico with Doric
posts, and a low hipped roof with interior chimneys. The center-
hall plan interior is one room deep to the right of the stair
hall and two rooms deep to the left. The handsome open-string
stair has turned newels and a paneled spandrel, Other features
of note include plastered walls, two-panel doors with cornerblock
surrounds, and boldly simple Greek Revival post-and-lintel
mantels. In some rooms a cupboard is built into the wall
adjacent to the projecting mantel.

Just north of Germanton is the Leake-Chaffin-Browder House
(SK 272), believed to have been built by David Leake in the mid
1850s. Although the house has been altered by the addition of a
wrap—around porch dating from ca. 1905, an old photograph reveals
that the house originally looked nearly identical to Pine Hall.
There are so many similarities in form and detail between the two
houses that they may well have been erected by the same builder,
There is no known documentation, however, to substantiate this.
Like Pine Hall, the Leake—-Chaffin-Browder House is a substantial
two-story brick dwelling with a three-bay facade (originally with
a hip-roofed Doric entrance portico), a low hipped roof, and
interior chimneys., Double-leaf paneled doors with mullioned
sidelights and transom lead to the center-hall plan interior.
Here, as at Pine Hall, the house is one room deep to the right of
the stair hall and two rooms deep to the left, The two rooms to
the left of the hall are separated by a secondary, transverse
stair hall. The interior of the house features plastered walls
and consistently applied, chaste Greek Revival detailing
including post—and-lintel mantels, two-panel doors with

‘cornerblock surrounds, and cupboards next to the projecting

fireplace in every room except the parlor. The primary stair has
a graceful handrail, a turned newel, and a paneled spandrel. The
secondary stair features an elegant ramped handrail and turned
newels, It continues in this form down to what was originally
the basement dining room, one of the most unusual features of the
house and a rare survivor in Stokes County's architectural
history. Also rare is the surviving brick kitchen behind the
house, ' :
The Jefferson Tuttle House (SK 256) in the Brook Cove
vicinity closely resembles Pine Hall and, especially, the
Leake~Chaffin-Browder House in form and stylistic detail,
Probably built in the late 1860s, it, too, is a two-story house
with a low hipped roof, a three-bay facade with, until recent
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years, hip-roofed entrance porches, and paneled entrances with
sidelights and transom. Once again the interior displays a plan
with two stair halls and consistently applied Greek Revival
detailing including front and side stairs with turned newels,
ramped handrails, and paneled spandrels; two-panel doors with
cornerblock surrounds; post—and-lintel mantels; and built-in
cupboards next to two of the mantels. However, whereas the
Leake-Chaffin-Browder House and Pine Hall are both of brick
construction, the Tuttle House is a more vernacular adaptation of
the type using weatherboarded log construction.

Another group of equally impressive mid nineteenth-century
Greek Revival houses is best exemplified by the Benjamin Bailey
House (SK 253) and the Hampton Bynum House (SK 281), though both
have seen more alterations (especially on the interior) than have
Pine Hall, the Leake-Chaffin-Browder House, or even the Jefferson
Tuttle House. Local tradition suggests that once there were at
least five or six houses of this type in the Germanton-Walnut
Cove area, but most have been lost. The Rainey-Savage House (SK
304) is still clearly recognizable as a member of the group,
although it has been substantially altered. Tradition also
maintains that the houses were designed by a "German architect,"
name unknown. While some of the detailing of these houses is
similar to the detailing of Pine Hall and associated houses, the
form is altogether different. The houses in this group are
two-story weatherboarded frame dwellings, and each has a broad
pedimented gable roof with a boxed and molded cornice, interior
chimneys, and molded door and window surrounds. The focal point
of the three-bay facade is the two-level central portico with
Doric posts and a full Classical entablature with a pedimented
gable echoing that of the main roof., Each level of the portico
boasts a double-leaf, paneled door with mullioned sidelights and
transom emphasized by the plain flush-boarded background of the
portico wall. The interior of each house follows a center hall,
double pile plan with Greek Revival details such as
post-and-lintel mantels and two-panel doors with cornerblock
surrounds (except where altered).,

A variety of other Greek Revival houses of distinction was
also built in Stokes County during the mid nineteenth century.
One of the most impressive of these is the Covington House (SK
202), proudly situated on a hilltop along NC 89 in Meadows
Township. This unusually large house is the result of two major
building periods, believed to date from ca. 1820 and ca. 1860,
While the original section of the house, located between the
westernmost two chimneys, retains some design features from the
earlier period of building, the primary character of the house
dates from the Greek Revival period, When the two-story,
two-room addition was built to the east end of the house ca.
1860, it was designed with refined Greek Revival detailing,
including a well-proportioned mantel, two-panel doors, and
crossetted door and window surrounds. Arcund the same time, much
of the detailing in the rest of the house was updated in the
Greek Revival style. The most outstanding feature of the
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Covington House--that for which it is most memorable--is the

.nine-bay, two-level porch with Doric posts which extends across

the entire facade of the house.

The full-facade porch is an architectural theme which
appears elsewhere in some of Stokes County's more impressive
houses from the mid nineteenth century through the early
twentieth century. A prime example from the mid nineteenth
century is the David Nicholas Dalton House (NRSL) in the balton
community. Like the Covington House, it has an impressive
hilltop setting, and also like the Covington House, it is an
unusually large dwelling (for Stoke County) built in several
phases. Initially an antebellum two-story log structure with a
hall-and-parlor plan, the house was enlarged prior to the Civil
War by Dalton, who had purchased the property by 1857, Other
alterations were made in the 1880s, including a third-floor
ballroom. Dalton, who was a prominent planter, tobacco products
manufacturer, and a diversified entrepreneur, used his large home
not only as the family residence, but also as a hotel and
stagecoach stop. The house is a two-and-a-half-story,
weatherboarded dwelling with pairs of gable-end chimneys. 1Its
handsome two—-tier full-facade porch features square posts and a
latticed balustrade. Like the porch of the James Rierson, Sr.,
House, the Dalton House porch is distinguished by decorative
smoke-painted ceilings.

The Wall-Reynolds House (SK 173} in Beaver Island Township
is of smaller scale than those Greek Revival dwellings discussed
thus far, and yet it is one of the most sophisticated houses of
the period in Stokes County. It is a two-story, weatherboarded
frame house with a three-bay facade, a low hipped roof, exterior
end chimneys, nine-over-six and six-~over—four sash windows with
louvered shutters, and a one-story rear ell which appears to have
been originally detached from the house. The stylistic focal
point of the exterior is the Classical entrance portico with
paired Tuscan columns, a plain balustrade, and a full
entablature. It shelters the two-panel front entrance with
sidelights and Classical surround, The refined interior follows
a center-hall, single-pile plan and features plastered walls and
consistently applied Greek Revival detailing such as two-panel
doors with cornerblock surrounds, post-and-lintel mantels,
paneled aprons beneath the windows, and a delicate stair with a
tapered octagonal newel and a ramped handrail. Of particular
significance is the well-executed decorative painting which
highlights some of the interior features, including marbled and
grained mantels, marbled baseboards, and marbled stair risers.
Behind the Wall-Reynolds House stands a rare survivor in Stokes
County: a two-room, central-chimney, frame slave house which was
one of the three listed with Zachariah Wall's property in the
1860 Census,

0f yet smaller scale is the Samuel Hill House (SK 299), one
of the most architecturally interesting dwellings in Germanton.
Although the house has been enlarged and altered since 1920, much
of the original plan and Greek Revival detailing remains intact.
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The original house was a one-story weatherboarded cottage with a
low hipped roof, exterior end brick chimneys, and a center bay
Doric porch (enlarged in the 1920s to a full-facade porch) which
sheltered a two-panel front door (now replaced) with mullioned
sidelights and transom., The two windows of the three-bay facade
are unusual, having six-over-six sash with mullioned sidelights
like those flanking the entrance. The interior is also unusual
with a modified Quaker plan consisting of a center hall, one
large room with a central fireplace to the left of the hall, and
two rooms, each with a corner fireplace, to the right of the
hall. Interior details include plastered walls, post-and-lintel
mantels, two-panel doors, and Greek Revival moldings. A
now-removed stair led from the center hall to the cellar, which
includes two large rooms originally used as a kitchen and as a
dining room, unusual features for Stokes County.

Traditional Houses of the Nineteenth and Early Twentieth
Centuries

While the succession of stylistic trends popular in America
continued to find expression in houses erected throughout Stokes
County's architectural history, the force of local tradition
remained strong and played a decisive role in the design of
countless dwellings built in the county for a century and a half,
In the traditional building patterns of Stokes County, as
elsewhere, form was much slower to change than detail, and
stylistic detail was often only alluded to, 'if not ignored
completely. For these reasons it is often difficult to date with
much certainty the traditional folk housing of the county, Thus
it was that the Willie Taylor House (see discussion under Log
House Traditions) was built in 1939, though its form was a
hold-over from at least the early nineteenth century and the
overall appearance of. the house suggested that it was most likely
built fifty to seventy~five years prior to its actual
construction date.

One of the most popular of the traditional house forms in
Stokes County during the early to mid nineteenth century is
exemplified by the Gideon Ferguson House (SK 325) in Meadows
Township, begun just prior to the Civil War and completed shortly
thereafter. This little-altered house is a two-story,
weatherboarded log dwelling of hall-and-parlor plan with a
fieldstone foundation, a gable roof, a gable-end stone chimney, a
shed-roofed front porch with the west third enclosed as a room,
and a one-story frame shed across the rear. A single-pen log
kitchen with a large gable-end stone chimney stands just west of
the house, Interior detailing includes a combination of
white-washed log walls, flush-sheathed walls, exposed ceiling
joists, a log partition wall, an enclosed stair along the
partition with entrances from the west room and from the front
porch, a simple post-and-lintel mantel, and both two-panel and
batten doors with decorative wrought iron strap hinges (a late
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usage) .

Nearby, the mid nineteenth-century John H., Carroll House (5K
327) bears the same basic form as the Ferguson House but is
somewhat smaller and less detailed, It is a two-story
weatherboarded log structure with a gable roof, a gable-end stone
chimney with a brick stack, a shed-roofed front porch with an
enclosed room on the west end, and a large single-pen interior
with exposed log walls and ceiling joists and with an enclosed
corner stair. Both two-panel and batten doors are found in the
house, Refinements are few, but include a boxed roof cornice and
flush sheathed walls and ceiling on the front porch. Attached to
the rear of the house by a frame connecting room is a two-room
log kitchen and dining room ell. These rooms, divided by a log
partition, are treated with exposed log walls and flush-sheathed
ceilings. An unusual feature of the Carroll House is that the
four doors leading from the front porch to the rear kitchen are
aligned in shotgun fashion.

One of the most common traditional house forms which
continued throughout the nineteenth century and into the
twentieth century was the two-story log or frame house of
rectangular configuration with a gable roof and a stone or brick
chimney at each gable end. These houses generally had a front
porch and a semi-detached kitchen on the rear in earlier years or
a rear ell in later years. Interiors generally followed a
hall-and-parlor or a center-hall plan.

The Petree-Bolejack House (SK 31l4) in Meadows Township is a
good mid nineteenth-century example. It is a weatherboarded log
house with a flush-sheathed front porch wall., A pair of
four-panel front doors leads to the two main rooms of the house,
which are finished with wide, flush-sheathed walls and ceilings,
large but simple post-and-lintel mantels, and an enclosed corner
stair,

Another example of the type, dating from ca. 1875, is the
Allen-Tillotson House (SK 235). Like the Petree-Bolejack House,
it has flush-sheathed porch walls in contrast to the
weatherboarding of the rest of the house and a pair of front
doors which lead to the two-room—-plan interior, Interior
features include flush-sheathed walls and ceilings, two-panel
doors, and simple but handsome post—and-lintel mantels. The
distinguishing feature of the Allen—-Tillotson House is its
vernacular decorative painting, a once fairly common way of
dressing up an otherwise plain house., At the Allen-Tillotson
House the second floor mantels are marbled--each in a different
way—-—and the ceilings are smoked. One of the ceilings even bears
what appears to be the initials "WHW," presumably those of the
painter., (The first floor may also at one time have displayed
decorative painting, but any such painting is no longer in
evidence.)

The Chandler-Martin-Joyce House (SK 735) in the Amostown
vicinity was probably built during the third quarter of the
nineteenth century and is another typical frame example of this
traditional house type. It is somewhat more refined than many
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houses of the type, yet typically, the refinements come primarily
with the interior detailing. The house has a longer three-bay
facade than those houses previously discussed, but its
shed~-roofed porch shelters only the front entrance. Exterior
details include latticework porch posts and a double-leaf
entrance with sidelights and transom., The vernacular interior
refinements provide a surprisingly romantic contrast to the
general austerity of the exterior. The interior boasts a
generously proportioned central stair hall; plastered walls;
two~panel doors; a handsome stair with unusual carved newels,
ramped handrail, and curvilinear applied brackets; and a robust
vernacular parlor mantel with heavy corner and center blocks and
a three—-dimensionally-curved frieze and pilasters,

The traditional house type illustrated by the
Petree-Bolejack, Allen-Tillotson, and Chandler-Martin-Joyce
houses continued in popularity through the late nineteenth
century and into the early twentieth, Proportions changed
somewhat from house to house, front porches varied in size and
detail, and interiors increasingly followed the center hall plan,
but the basic form remained, providing continuity through decades
of the county's architectural history. Good examples from the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries of the continuation
of this form are the ca. 1888 Francis Jefferson Tuttle House (SK
203} in Sauratown Township, the ca. 1890 Sanders Fountain Slate
House (SK 370) in Yadkin Township, and the ca. 1905 John Hill
Alley House (SK 630) in Peters Creek Township. Around the
turn of the twentieth century a variation on this traditional
house form gained popularity. The primary difference was in the
placement of the chimneys--from the exterior gable ends to the
interior, where they formed a pair near the center of the house.
A typical example of this variation in form is the ca. 1900 Rufus
A, Bennett House (SK 380) in Yadkin Township.

Late Nineteenth—-Century Romanticism

While traditionalism was an ever-present factor in Stokes
County's architecture, the second half of the nineteenth
century-—-from the Greek Revival to the late Victorian Queen
Anne--was a period, nationally, of romanticism in architecture
that was expressed in a variety of Victorian period styles. In
Stokes County this romanticism in building design was evident,
but to a lesser extent than in many places, particularly more
urban places. The latter half of the nineteenth
century--especially the last quarter--was a time of growth and
change in Stokes County, but it was not, for the most part, a
time of great individual wealth. Thus housing in general tended
to cling to comfortable traditionalism with only tentative forays
into the world of stylish romanticism.

The most significant example of this romanticism can be seen
in the Hairston Sauratown Plantation House (SK 182), built on the
west side of the Dan River near Walnut Cove, probably in the
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1870s. The Hairstons were the largest land and slave owners in
Stokes County during the nineteenth century. The original
plantation house was located across the river, but it burned
{(date unknown), and this house was later erected by combining and
redesigning the former plantation office and the manager's house,
according to family tradition. The result was a sophisticated
house whose degign and detail are unique in Stokes County. It is
a one-and-a-half-story structure with an unusually long facade,
interior chimneys, and a cross plan consisting of two central
back~to—back rooms flanked by mirror—-image stair halls with
single rooms beyond. The porch which nearly encircles the house
and the doors which originally opened to it from each of the
first floor rooms provided excellent ventilation for what was
used primarily as a summer residence, according to family
tradition. The exterior of the Hairston House strongly hints of
the Gothic Revival, with its slender fluted and chamfered porch
posts, two lancet—-arched windows on the central projecting bay,
and multiple gables and dormers with sawnwork and pierced work
bargeboards. The handsome interior displays a combination of
stylistic influences and includes conservative paneled wainscots,
Greek Revival-inspired two-panel doors and post-and-lintel
mantels, and other mantels and doors of Italianate and later
Victorian inspiration., Adding to the sophistication of the house
is a collection of expertly wood-grained doors, The romanticism
of the Hairston House continues with its only remaining
nineteenth-century outbuilding. This square, weatherboarded log
structure is detailed with a scalloped bargeboard and a
pedimented entrance.

The ca. 1900 Sheppard-Moore House (SK 771) in Peters Creek
Township reflects the same spirit of romanticism as seen at the
Hairston House., Like the Halrston House, its form and detailing
are unique in Stokes County, The Sheppard-Moore House is a
two-story, weatherboarded frame structure with a symmetrical
H-shaped plan consisting of a central stair hall (which forms the
hyphen of the H) flanked on either side by two back-to-back rooms
separated by a central chimney. Fanciful exterior detailing
includes a multi-gabled roof (two of the gables are clipped) with
a sawnwork bargeboard and wood-shingled gables and a recessed,
two-tier front porch with a variety of sawnwork ornamentation.
The Sheppard-Moore House barn--a twelve-sided structure with a
stall on each side~-was as unusual architecturally as the house.
It no longer stands and constitutes one of Stokes County's true
architectural losses.

Like the Hairston House and the Sheppard-Moore House, the
William Gaines Slate House (SK 340) is architecturally unique in
Stokes County, but unlike the other two houses, it appears to be
related, primarily in detail, to a group of houses of the late
nineteenth century in the county. One of the best expressions in

" the Stokes County of the Italianate style, the Slate House stands

on a hill in the Quaker Gap vicinity with a commanding view of
the Sauratown Mountains., The two-story frame dwelling follows a
cross—-shaped plan with a center front projecting bay and a
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two-story central rear ell flanked by two-tier porches., The

-entirety of the low gabled roof is bordered by a bracketed

cornice, and both the shed-roofed entrance porch and the rear ell
porches are treated with matching chamfered posts and sawnwork
brackets and balustrades. The front entrance of double-leafed,
paneled doors flanked by sidelights and a slightly pedimented
surround leads to a small vestibule. Here lies the most unusual
feature of the house--an enclosed central stair bordered by a
beaded wainscot and terminated at its base by three circular
steps of graduated size. The remainder of the interior is
treated with a beaded board wainscot as well as beaded board
walls and ceilings. )

William Gaines Slate (1843-1915) was a prominent builder and
entrepreneur in central Stokes County who is credited with
bringing the first circular sawmill and planing machine into the
county. He is associated with the building of many of the houses
and churches in the area, and in 1904 served as building
supervisor for the new county courthouse, Slate's saw and planing
mill may have been the source for much of the decorative exterior
woodwork in central Stokes County; certainly numerocus houses in
the area exhibit sawnwork brackets and/or balustrades identical
to those found on the Slate House, Among these are the William
Jasper Johnson House (SK 336), built for Slate's daughter and
son—-in-law in the Quaker Gap community; the Francis E. Petree
House (SK 316) in the Priendship community; and the
Bennett-Gentry House (SK 378) in Yadkin Township. The
Bennett-Gentry House also recalls, with some modifications, the
form of the Slate House.

Other houses of simple but handsome Italianate influence
were also built in Stokes County during the last quarter of the
nineteenth century. Located primarily in the towns, these houses
made use primarily of gabled roofs with overhanging eaves and
bracketed cornices, pedimented door and window surrounds, and
fancy porches with chamfered posts and sawnwork brackets and
balustrades., These houses were usually two stories in height,
though various configurations and plans were used. Two excellent
examples are the Cahill-Fulton-Cates House (SK 102) in Walnut
Cove and the Edward J. Styers House (SK 303) in Germanton,

As the end of the nineteenth century approached, Stokes
County houses constructed with an interest in style were less
influenced by the Italianate, reflecting instead a variety of
late nineteenth-century stylistic conventions. The Joe Henry
Hawkins House (SK 6l6) in Snow Creek Township is one such
example, This two-story, L-shaped, weatherboarded dwelling with
a paneled cornice frieze and pedimented and crossetted window
surrounds retains a simple Italianate influence, but its real
significance lies in the parlor which once served as the focal
point of the interior. This imaginative room, which was sold and
removed from the house in recent years, utilized a decorative
painting scheme to achieve its Victorian romanticism,. The entire
ceiling of the flush-boarded room was painted in broad concentric
circles with a large stylized flower in the center. Each corner
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of the room was painted to imitate a wooden porch post with
brackets that appeared to support the ceiling. On the west wall
was an outstanding mantel with painted and carved decorative
details. The frieze, in particular, was highlighted by three
well-executed landscape paintings: an oval panel in the center
flanked by two rectangular panels. Flower blossoms painted on
the mantel appear related to the center of the ceiling medallion.
The segmental-arched firebox which remains with the house has
scored stucco surfaces in imitation of stone, and four-panel
doors {(now removed) were dgrained. The other rooms of the Hawkins
House are painted with such colors as dark brown, light green,
agua, putty, and a dark blue-green. Martin Luther Hutcherson
(1856-1924), a furniture carver and decorator at the J. E,.
Shelton Furniture Factory in nearby Sandy Ridge, is believed to
have painted the decorative work at the Hawkins House. He is
also credited with having painted in similar fashion the parlor
of the nearby Andrew Steele House (SK 617).

A different type of Victorian romanticism was achieved at
the Bynum-Watts House (SK 260) in the Brook Cove community. The
form of the house, with its two-story, three-bay facade, gable
roof with gable-end chimneys, and two-story rear ell with
wrap—~around porch, is quite traditional. The effect of the
two—-tiered facade porch, however, is that of a Victorian update
of the Greek Revival—-influenced Covington House (SK 202). At the
Bynum-Watts House the five-bay first story of the porch appears
to have been altered with the use of Tuscan Doric columns and a
turned balustrade, while the second floor retains its fanciful
seven—-bay form with latticework posts, sawnwork brackets, and
plain balustrade. The broad fields leading up the road to the
house add to its romantic quality.

As the Bynum-Watts House seems a Victorian update of the
Greek Revival Covington House, so the Matthew Dalton Phillips
House (SK 425) in the Dalton community appears to be a
Victorianized version-of the Greek Revival Benjamin Bailey and
Hampton Bynum houses, One of the most handsomely detailed
dwellings of the late Victorian period, the 1890 Phillips House
repeats the substantial two-story frame, center hall, double-pile
plan of the earlier houses. Like the Greek Revival houses, it
also has a broad gable roof, interior chimneys, and a two-tiered,
gabled, center-bay porch which shelters a double-leaf entrance
with sidelights and transom at each level. What differentiates
the Phillips House from the Bailey and Bynum houses is primarily
the detailing. Instead -of boldly simple Greek Revival features,
the Phillips House exhibits Victorian frills, such as a bracketed
cornice and paneled frieze, turned posts and balustrades,
sawnwork brackets, and windows with crossetted surrounds. The
Phillips House also boasts a two-story porch on the northeast
side of the house which originally matched the southwest porch
but was altered in 1936-1937.

Style consciousness during the late nineteenth century was
not confined to Stokés County's larger two—-story dwellings,
One-story cottages, particularly in the towns, were also on
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occasion decorated with the latest stylistic treatment. As with
the two~story houses, porches were a prime target for late
Victorian embellishment. One such example is the Will and
Mildred Hill Chaffin House (SK 302) in Germanton. This
one-story, weatherboarded dwelling with a gable roof, central
chimney, and three-bay facade is a simple structure enlivened by
a fancy front porch with chamfered posts, sawnwork brackets, and
a sawnwork balustrade.

While many houses in late nineteenth-century Stokes County
displayed an array of period stylistic influences, most of these
houses remained conservative in form, focusing on detail for
their stylistic expression. Few houses ventured far from
tradition to convey more fully the exuberant Queen Anne style
which was so popular across the nation at the end of the
nineteenth century. The Queen Anne was characterized by
irregularity of plan and massing and by a variety of materials,
textures, and ornamentation, Even the few houses in Stokes County
which clearly demonstrate the Queen Anne style, as opposed to
displaying some detailing associated with the style, are
relatively conservative in approach. One of these houses is
the Dr, William Banner Moore House (SK 794) in the Hart's Store
community. It is particularly unusual for being a rural example
of the Queen Anne style, but Dr. Moore had attended medical
school in Baltimore and would have been exposed to higher style
urban architecture, The fact that Moore married a Baltimore
woman in 1893 probably also influenced the choice of design for
his house. Situated on an expansive hill, the 1890s Moore House
is a two-story frame dwelling of irregular massing. The steeply
pitched gable roof is interrupted by the two most notable
eXxterior features--the projecting, two-story, tower—like front
bay with polygonal roof and the square two—and-a—-half-story
central stair tower with bellcast pyramidal roof. A corner porch
with turned posts is nestled beneath the slope of the main roof,
while a secondary decorated porch shelters the side entrance to
what was Dr. Moore's office. The interior of the Moore House
continues the Queen Anne ambiance through its completely
asymmetrical plan with rooms of various sizes and unusual shapes.
From the small entrance hall, the stair winds tightly upward to
the second floor and tower peak. Much of the woodwork in the
house 1is wood-grained,

The Culler-Scott House (SK 454) is the most stylish of the
surviving late nineteenth-century dwellings in Stokes County.
This sophisticated two-story frame house is the architectural
focal point of the town of Pinnacle, appropriate in view of the
fact that the house was first owned by Pinnacle's founding
family, the Cullers, Typical of late Victorian architecture, the
Culler-Scott House has an asymmetrical plan with projecting and
receding planes. The house is dominated by a central three-story
tower with an impressive mansard roof and louvered dormers. The
textural variety popular with the Queen Anne is achieved through
the use of novelty siding on the first story and decorative wood
shingles on the second story, tower, and gables. Other period
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features which contribute to the stylishness of the house are a
front bay window, decorated gables, sawnwork frieze borders, a
wrap—-around porch with turned posts and balustrade, and a lunette
window around the corner from the decorated double-leaf entrance
at the base of the tower. A 1912 photograph of the house shows
that it has changed little since its early years,

By far the grandest Queen Anne-style house in Stokes County,
and indeed one the most outstanding houses of any period in the
county, was the Dr. W. A. Lash House, demolished ca. 1970. The
house was probably built (or the earlier home of W. A. Lash was
substantially enlarged and remodeled) by William A. Lash, Jr., a
Walnut Cove physician and prominent local landowner. 01d
photographs show that the Lash House was a huge two-story brick
structure with a basement and an attic. The dominant feature of
the exterior was the three-story central tower with wood shingled
third story and bell-cast roof, Additional exterior features of
significance included a crested hipped and gabled roof, decorated
gables, round-arched windows bordered with stained glass, and a
one-story, full-length facade porch with a turned balustrade and
frieze. An unusual aspect of the house was that it was
symmetrical in form, a departure from the characteristic
asymmetry of the Queen Anne style. The front entrance, two
mantels, and a stair newel re-used in the present one-story
replacement house show that the interior of the Lash House was as
ornately detailed as the exterior.

Early Twentieth-Century Styles

Around the turn of the twentieth century, the influence of
the late Victorian Queen Anne style on Stokes County's.dwellings
subsided in favor of a renewed interest in America's Colonial
architecture and the Classical Revival. The houses erected at
this time, however, were not mere copies of the architectural
styles popular in America during the eighteenth and mid
nineteenth centuries, Rather, they were re-interpretations of
selected forms and details from these periods, combined to form
the new styles known as the Colonial Revival and the
Neo-Classical Revival. The change was not instantanecus, of
course., As in other periods, there were many houses which
exhibited "transitional" stylistic images, such as late
Victorian—-Colonial Revival and Colonial Revival-Neo-Classical
Revival, The new styles were, to a certain extent, a reaction
against the relative visual complexity of the Queen Anne and
related late Victorian styles. The Colonial Revival was a
sentimental style with a conservative Classicism grounded in
tradition and a formality which dispensed with Victorian
exuberance and irregularity. At the same time, the Neo-Classical
Revival was bolder in detail and proportion and generally more
ostentatious than had been the mid nineteenth-century Greek
Revival, _

The Capt. Robert I, Murphy House (SK 105} in Walnut Gove and
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the Abner Chilton House (SK 825) in the Asbury vicinity are
representative of those houses which display the transitional
influences of the late Victorian and Colonial Revival periods.
The 1890s Murphy House reflects the Colonial Revival in its
blocky form, steep gable roof with pedimented dormers, and
modillioned cornice outlining the main roof, porch roof, and
dormers. The interior continues the theme with
turn—-of-the-century interpretations of Colonial mantels. At the
same time, the house retains Queen Anne-style influence in its
asymmetrical interior plan, in its combination of weatherboard
and wood shingle siding, and in its two-story projecting bay
which breaks away from the Colonial Revival rectangular block.

The 1914 Chilton House displays a late Victorian stylistic
attitude in its boldly projecting center bay with wrap-around
porch which establishes a significant variation to the otherwise
traditional farmhouse form. The pedimented gables and Tuscan
Doric porch columns, however, provide a Classicism which suggests
the influence of the Colonial Revival.

The John R. Lackey House (SK ll4) in Walnut Cove illustrates
a particular form of the Colonial Revival which was popular in
Stokes County during the mid 1910s. It is a one—and—-a-half-story
frame dwelling dominated by a gambrel roof with a front cross
gambrel. Characteristic of the houses of this type, the first
story is weatherboarded while the upper story is sheathed in wood
shingles. Other typical features include the hip-roofed front
porch with Tuscan Doric columns and the Colonial Revival
fireplace mantels.,

The Fulton-Sands House (SK 139) in Walnut Cove displays
another popular Colonial Revival house form. Built ca. 1910, it
is a two-story weatherboarded frame dwelling, three bays wide and
two bays deep, with a steep hipped roof, a hipped front dormer,
interior chimneys, and a Tuscan Doric- porch. The interior is
arranged in a center-hall, double-pile plan with Colonial Revival
closed-string stair and mantels.

The rather pompous Neo-Classical Revival style did not gain
wide popularity in the generally unpretentious, rural environment
of Stokes County. The style was sometimes suggested in a
tentative way that pushed beyond the more readily accepted
Colonial Revival, The ca., 1910 Smoak-Brown-wWall House (SK 456)
in Pinnacle is an example., It is a large, two-story,
weatherboarded frame house with a hipped roof and a wrap—around
porch with square Doric posts set on brick plinths. Adding a bit
of grandeur to the Classicism of the house is the second-story,
center-bay porch with its pedimented gable and Doric posts. The
glass and wood-paneled entrance with sidelights and transom adds
another Classical touch.

The Smith-Simmons House (SK 831) in the Asbury community is
the best domestic example of the Neo-Classical Revival style in
Stokes County. Ironically, even this house retains evidence of
its late nineteenth~century origin. Local tradition relates that
Walter Smith built the original house, a simple two-story frame
dwelling with a hipped roof, interior chimneys, and a center-hall
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plan. The simple late Victorian stair remains intact toward the

-rear of the present house, and what was the parlor of Smith's

house retains a sophisticated late Victorian mantel with a
paneled and mirrored overmantel that is one of the finest
examples of its type in the county. Around 1908 G. L, Simmons
enlarged the house by adding a new front parlor and a large
reception hall with its own stair. At the same time he added a
one-story wrap—around porch with tapered, paneled posts set on
brick plinths and a two-story central portico with paired Doric
columns and a full Classical entablature, Simmons's alterations
converted the house into a majestic Neo-Classical Revival
dwelling that architecturally dominates the Asbury community.

While the Colonial Revival and Neo-Classical Revival styles
were finding expression in dwellings built in Stokes County
during approximately the first fifteen years of the twentieth
century, another architectural movement--quite different from
these and the various late Victorian styles--was beginning to
appear in the more fashionable houses of the period. The
nationally-popular Craftsman style and its most typical house
form, the bungalow, gradually became a part of the Stokes County
architectural scene during the first two decades of the twentieth
century and reached a peak in popularity during the 1920s, The
Craftsman style emphasized simplicity, informality of plan, and
an emphasis on the natural gualities of building materials so as
to be in harmony with the surrounding natural environment,

The most popular manifestation of the style in Stokes County
was the one or one-and-a-half-story bungalow., Typical
characteristics of the bungalow included asymmetrical design, low
sweeping profiles, broad gables, widely overhanging bracketed
eaves, one or more wide porches--often offset-—-supported by heavy
posts, the use of a combination of materials which freguently
gave a rustic appearance, and informal interior arrangements.
Many of the examples in Stokes County were as sophisticated as
those built in more style-~-conscious urban areas, In fact, Stokes
County's landscape provided, in many cases, a particularly
appropriate setting for these houses which were intended to be
related to nature.

The James Booker Greene House (SK 219) in Meadows Township
is an early and well-developed example of the bungalow house type
in Stokes County. It has been little-altered since its ca. 1905
construction date. The Greene House is a one-and-a-half-story
dwelling with a broad gable roof, widely overhanging braced
eaves, front and rear gabled dormers, a weatherboarded first
story, a wood-shingled upper story, and a broad wrap-around porch
with tapered wood posts set on brick plinths which extends on the
south side to form a porte-cochere, Around 1920 a low stone wall
was built around the front yard, further connecting the man-made
and natural elements of the property.

One of the most outstanding bungalows in Stokes County is
the 1923-1924 Harry Sanders House (SK 87) in Walnut Cove, Harry
and Willie (Hairston) Sanders had spent a couple of years in
California prior to moving to Walnut Cove and building their
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house. While in California they had become enamored of the
bungalow house type and chose it for their own dwelling, calling
it their "California bungalow." The impressive house makes good
use of dark-stained, wood-shingle siding and contrasting Mount
Airy granite for the foundation, chimneys, porch, and
porte—cochere. Typically, the front porch is offset, the low
roof lines have widely overhanging eaves with braces and exposed
rafter ends, and windows are primarily in groups of two, three,
or four. Less typical is the small, wood-shingled second story
which rises from the center of the house. Continuing the use of
natural materials, the dominant feature of the interior is a huge
granite fireplace. Behind the Sanders House is an unusual
two-story garage/storage building/apartment with an engaged
second-story porch., Coordinating with the main house, it is
sheathed in square-cut wood shingles.

Wood shingles, in fact, were among the most popular of the
building materials used with bungalows., In addition to the
Sanders House, the Gaston Hill House (SK 506) and the Bernie
Smith House (SK 507), both in Westfield, are excellent examples
of houses sheathed completely in square-cut wood shingles. The
1920s Hill House exhibits one of the most typical bungalow forms,
It is a one—and-a-half-story dwelling with a brocad gable roof,
widely overhanging braced eaves, a large gabled front dormer, and
a broad front porch. The porch is sheltered by a low-sweeping
continuation of the main roof which is supported by tapered wood
posts set on rusticated concrete block plinths connected by a
wood~shingled skirt. Down the road, the 1926 Smith House
exhibits another variation on the bungalow. 'It, too, has a broad
gable roof with widely overhanging braced eaves and matching
dormers, but this time the gables are on the front and rear of
the house instead of on either side. Beneath the front gable is
an engaged front porch., A camp-like rusticity is encouraged by
the combination of dark-stained wood-shingle siding and rock
chimneys, porch post plinths, and foundation,

Located on rugged terrain below Sauratown Mountain, the ca.
1915 Numa Covington House (SK 376) demonstrates well the
integration of a bungalow house form with the surrounding
environment, The Covington House is a one-and-a-half-story
weatherboarded frame dwelling with the typical broad gable roof
with widely overhanging braced eaves, What distinguishes it from
other bungalows in the county is the engaged porch which wraps

~around three of the four sides, providing a strongly protective

quality to this hillside dwelling. The unusual upper-story
porches, recessed beneath the gable peaks at both north and south
ends of the house, suggest the appearance of a mountain chalet,
reinforcing the relationship between the house and its
environment, .

The Craftsman style was also manifested in houses somewhat
larger than the typical bungalow, though the detailing remained
the same, A good example is the James Reid Owens House (SK 531)
in Big Creek Township. An early photograph shows that the
1924-1925 house has seen almost no alterations since its
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construction, perhaps because it was family-built and has
remained in family ownership. The handsome dwelling is almost a
full two stories in height and contrasts German-siding on the
first story with wood shingles on the upper story. The
facade-oriented main gable roof with smaller side cross gables
and the gabled front porch and side porte-cochere all display the
same widely overhanging braced eaves and exposed, curved rafter
ends. According to family tradition, the original paint scheme
consisted of grey for the German siding, brown for the shingles,
and white for the trim. The present colors vary little from the
original.

The most outstanding example of the larger Craftsman-style
houses in Stokes County is the N. Spencer Mulligan House (SK 220)
in the Ross Store community of Meadows Township. The two-story
dwelling features a weatherboarded first story and a
wood-shingled second story, while the north side chimney, the
side porte-cochere, and the front porch posts are all of rock
construction. The exceptionally broad gable roof with widely
overhanging braced eaves is repeated on the offset front porch.
Grouped windows feature diamond-shaped muntins in the upper sash.
The landscaping of the Mulligan House contributes significantly
to the association of the house with the Craftsman movement by
acknowledging the important relationship between the house and
its environment. Surrounded by trees, the Mulligan House is set
far back from the road at the end of a long drive which winds
through an expansive open lawn, establishing a setting of natural
isolation. South of the house stands a white-columned pergola
which provides an "outdoor living room" for communing with
nature, ~

Modern Stokes County

Stokes County's architectural history did not cease with the
Depression, though it is generally difficult to appropriately
evaluate the significance of more recent building trends until at
least fifty years have lapsed. Consequently, the present survey
focused on those buildings erected prior to 1930 (although
several later buildings and structures were recorded), and it
must be left to future historians to carefully assess the
character and significance of the county's more recent building
history.

Nevertheless, several observations concerning Stokes
County's post 1930 built environment can be made as a result of
this study. The most striking observation is that many of the
county's nineteenth and early twentieth-century
buildings--particularly houses—--have continued to be used by
successive generations of the same family. This has had the duel
effect of preserving a large number of Stokes County's early
dwellings while limiting the number of newer houses. This trend
may be due, in part, to the fact that Stokes has remained an
essentially rural, conservative, and relatively non-affluent
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county, and to the fact that from 1900 until 1970, the county
experienced an extremely slow rate of growth which did not
necessitate a significant increase in the number of dwellings,.
Newer housing which has appeared in the county has consisted
primarily of one-story ranch-style dwellings and house trailers.

Rapid population growth in Stoke County during the 1970s and
1980s has brought a heavy wave of building activity, particularly
in the southwest corner of the county. This, in turn, has placed
pressure on the preservation of the county's tangible historic
resources. As the county continues along this path, it will
become more important than ever for its history and architectural
history to be better understood and appreciated by more county
residents and for the preservation of the significant aspects of
that history to become a part of Stokes County's planning
process.
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